Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/ejmech

Review article

A comprehensive review of salinomycin derivatives as potent anticancer and anti-CSCs agents

Michał Antoszczak

Department of Bioorganic Chemistry, Faculty of Chemistry, Adam Mickiewicz University, Umultowska 89b, 61-614, Poznań, Poland

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 5 December 2018 Received in revised form 2 January 2019 Accepted 14 January 2019 Available online 16 January 2019

Keywords: Salinomycin Anticancer drugs design Drug-delivery systems Semi-synthetic analogs Regioselectivity Chemoselectivity O-acylation Reductive amination 'Click' chemistry Dimerization

ABSTRACT

Polyether ionophore antibiotics (ionophores) represent a large group of more than 120 lipid-soluble compounds that are widely used in veterinary medicine because of their significant antimicrobial activity. In addition to the industrial use of ionophores, some of them effectively and selectively inhibit properties of different cancer cells and enhance the antitumor effects of chemo- and/or radiotherapy. Salinomycin (SAL) is particularly interesting in this regard as it shows potent activity against various types of cancer cells, including those that display multi-drug resistance, and cancer stem cells. Therefore, a very interesting direction of research is chemical modification of SAL which may lead to obtaining analogs that are characterized by better biological activity and lower toxicity than those of the starting compound. This review article is focused on the possible role of both SAL-based drug delivery systems and SAL derivatives in future cancer therapy.

© 2019 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.

Contents

1. 2.	Introduction	48 49
	2.1. Properties and mode of action of ionophore antibiotics	49
	2.2. Mechanism of cation transport	49
3.	Salinomycin – a new cancer drug candidate	50
4.	Drug delivery systems based on salinomycin	52
5.	Chemical modification of salinomycin	53
	5.1. Modification of salinomycin carboxyl group	53
	5.2. Modification of salinomycin hydroxyl groups	54
	5.3. Modification of salinomycin ketone group and ring C	57
	5.4. Dimerization of salinomycin	58
	5.5. Double-modified salinomycin derivatives	60
6.	Conclusions	60
	Acknowledgment	61
	References	61

1. Introduction

Although substantial progress has been made toward reducing cancer mortality and extending life expectancy throughout the

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.01.034 0223-5234/© 2019 Elsevier Masson SAS. All rights reserved.





1987

E-mail address: michant@amu.edu.pl.

world over the past few decades, invasive cancers are still the second leading cause of death in economically developed countries after cardiovascular diseases, and one of the most leading cause of death in developing countries [1]. According to the World Health Organization, over eight million people die because of cancers each vear: it is about 13% of the total number of deaths worldwide. At the same time, it is estimated that the number of people diagnosed with cancer will systematically increase in the next few decades. Indeed, about 10 million new cancer patients were diagnosed in 2000, and this number is unfortunately expected to double in 2020 [2]. In 2015, the five most common types of cancer that kill men (in order of frequency) were lung, liver, stomach, colorectal and prostate cancers, while breast, lung, colorectal, cervical and stomach cancers were the most deadly among women [2]. On the other hand, the most frequent types of childhood cancers are leukemia, lymphomas and tumors of the central nervous system [2].

Oncology has already had some crucial moments in the fight against cancers, but despite considerable progress we are still waiting to find novel and effective ways to combat this group of diseases. Chemotherapy, whose usefulness is based on inhibiting of cell division, is effective in many types of cancers but in many others it is completely ineffective. In response to the systematically growing number of people diagnosed with cancers, many research groups around the world are engaged in finding new and highly effective anticancer agents. The history of discoveries of novel chemotherapeutics clearly indicates that one of the most rational ways to invent such drugs is to chemically modify the natural products with proven high biological activity. The ionophore antibiotics (ionophores) should undoubtedly be included in such compounds, among which salinomycin and its semi-synthetic derivatives deserve special attention in particular in the light of the recently published reports.

2. Ionophore antibiotics

Polyether ionophore antibiotics are a large group of natural bioactive compounds that are isolated from *Streptomyces* spp [3]. The first isolation and the discovery of biological properties of the compound belonging to this group took place in 1942, when Georgyi Gause and Maria Brazhnikova during the research conducted on bacteria of the *Bacillus brevis* genus noticed that after mixing them with a colony of *Staphylococcus*, a strong inhibition of growth of the latter occurred. Gramicidin S responsible for this phenomenon became the first known ionophore antibiotic [4,5].

In 1964, Pressman et al. described a new class of antibiotics which transport alkali metal cations from aqueous solutions to the hydrophobic phase [6]. The high biological activity of these compounds may be strictly connected with their natural ability to bind cations and transport them through biological membranes; for this reason, they are called ionophores (ion carriers) [7–9]. Till now, more than 120 ionophore antibiotics have been identified. Among them, six have been widely used in veterinary medicine as coccidiostatic agents and non-hormonal growth promoters (Fig. 1), *i.e.* lasalocid acid (Avatec[®], Bovatec[®]), maduramycin (Cygro[®]), monensin A (Coban[®], Coxidin[®], Elancoban[®], Rumensin[®]), narasin (Maxiban[®], Monteban[®]), salinomycin (Biocox[®], Sacox[®], Salinomax[®]) and semduramycin (Aviax[®]) [3,7].

Although more than 70 years have passed since the discovery of gramicidin S, there is no universally accepted system of classification of ionophore antibiotics. The most precise system seems to be the division of this group of compounds into natural and synthetic ionophores. Natural ionophores may be distinguished by cyclic ionophores and non-cyclic neutral or carboxylic ionophores, complexing mono- and/or divalent cations. In the group of natural cyclic ionophores, cyclopeptides (composed of amino acids only), cyclodepsides (composed of hydroxyacids only) and cyclodepsipeptides (composed of amino acids and hydroxyacids) may be found (Fig. 2A) [3].

2.1. Properties and mode of action of ionophore antibiotics

All polyether ionophores have common structural features. Their inner part is the hydrophilic cavity (pocket) formed by the oxygen atoms that belong to a variety of functional groups (ether, carbonyl, hydroxyl). The polar pocket with strictly defined size is able to coordinate only the cations whose size (radius) closely matches the size of this polar pocket; it simultaneously ensures high selectivity of the complexation process of both mono- and divalent cations. On the other hand, the outer part of their molecules is non-polar because it consists mainly of hydrophobic hydrocarbon skeletons. The presence of such hydrophobic surface guarantees high lipophilicity and facilitates diffusion through cell membranes from the extracellular environment into the cell [10,11].

lonophore antibiotics may act in two different ways – as cation carriers or as elements that form channels within the cell membranes (Fig. 2B). In the first case, the ionophore molecule forms with the cation a complex of unique structure, inside which the cation remains isolated from the external environment; the adoption of such structure allows the cation to be easily transported through the lipid bilayers. In contrast, channel-forming ionophores make a continuous pore within the biological membranes that is filled with water molecules, through which the flow of the respective cations is possible to conform to a concentration gradient. The studies on membrane transport have shown that more than 10^7 cations are transported through such a channel over a single second, while a single carrier-type ionophore may transport no more than 10^3 cations per second [3,11].

2.2. Mechanism of cation transport

The non-cyclic carboxylic ionophores, such as lasalocid acid, monensin A and salinomycin (Fig. 1), make a large class of naturally-occurring products from the group of carrier-type ionophore antibiotics. All carboxylic ionophores contain both tetrahydrofuran and tetrahydropyran rings. Importantly, these compounds may exist in the pseudocyclic crown ether-like form. Such a structure is stabilized by intramolecular hydrogen bonds that connect the two ends of the molecule; at one end there is a carboxyl group and at the opposite one there are one or two hydroxyl groups.

The broad spectrum of bioactivity of ionophore antibiotics is related to their natural ability to complex cations, mainly sodium and potassium, and a great ease in transferring the resulting electrically inert or charged complex across biological membranes. Inside the cell, the cation is released thus disturbing the natural Na^+/K^+ concentration gradient and changing the intracellular pH, which in turn leads to cell death [11].

Knowledge of the mechanism of cation transport realized by carboxylic ionophores is essential for fully understanding of the functioning of this group of compounds as well as for explaining the broad spectrum of their biological properties (Fig. 3A). At present, three different mechanisms of cation transfer across biological membranes by carrier-type ionophores are known: (i) electroneutral transport - if the transmembrane potential does not change, (ii) electrogenic transport - if the transmembrane potential is changed, and (iii) biomimetic transport, which is carried out by ionophores with a chemically modified carboxyl group [12,13].

The electroneutral transport is carried out in an inert or basic environment, because only in such conditions the carboxyl group



Fig. 1. Structure of selected carboxylic ionophore antibiotics.



Fig. 2. (A) Classification of ionophore antibiotics, and (B) methods of cation transport realized by ionophores. Principle of action: (i) a carrier-type ionophore, (ii) a channel-forming ionophore.

may be deprotonated to form the carboxylate group [12,13]. In the cancer cells and their immediate environment often acidification takes place. This phenomenon related to the process of anaerobic glucose metabolism is called the Warburg effect [14]. Due to the fact that also under such conditions ionophore antibiotics are highly active against cancer cells, in recent years an alternative mode of transport (electrogenic) was proposed; it may be effectively carried out by ionophores with a protonated carboxylic group [12,13]. The biomimetic transport, being a type of electrogenic transport mode, may be also found in the scientific literature; it is carried out by ionophore antibiotics with a chemically modified

carboxyl group, e.g. by their amides or esters [12,13].

3. Salinomycin – a new cancer drug candidate

Salinomycin (**SAL**, **1**, Fig. 1) was isolated for the first time from *Streptomyces albus* in 1974 during screening tests in the search for new antibiotics [15]. The first derivative of this natural mono-carboxylic ionophore (*para*-iodophenacyl ester) was obtained one year later; it was also the first crystalline derivative of **SAL**, whose structure was successfully solved [16]. The first total synthesis of **SAL** was proposed by Kishi et al. in 1981 [17] and developed in



Fig. 3. (A) Mechanisms of cation transport realized by carboxylic ionophores; (B) structure and mode of complex formation of salinomycin with sodium cation, and (C) with benzylamine molecule.

subsequent years by other chemists (Brimble, Kocieński, Urpi, Yadav) [18–23]. Furthermore, the biosynthesis of **SAL** was presented in 2012 [24].

SAL molecule has in its structure 11 oxygen atoms included in various functional groups, such as carboxylic, hydroxyl, ether or ketone; its molecule also includes four tetrahydropyran and one tetrahydrofuran rings. Moreover, the 6-6-5 spiro-ketal ring system characteristic of SAL structure and observed relatively rarely in other natural products, stiffens of entire molecule [25-27]. Importantly, SAL molecule exists in the open-chain structure, as shown in Fig. 1. Because of the presence of carboxylic group on the one end of its molecule and hydroxyl group on the opposite end, there is however the possibility to create the intramolecular 'head-to-tail' hydrogen bonds. This process leads to formation of the pseudocyclic structure in which the oxygen atoms extend towards the interior of the molecule, so that SAL may easily complex cations, especially sodium and potassium (Fig. 3B). On the other hand, the external part is hydrophobic which allows an easy transfer of created complex across the biological membranes [10]. It has been found that SAL transports monovalent cations more efficiently than divalent ones [28]. It has also been proved very recently that **SAL** is able to form complexes with organic amines (Fig. 3C) [29].

SAL shows significant bioactivity against Gram-positive bacteria, mycobacteria, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and parasites. **SAL** has also been found to be an effective agent against some fungi, including *Candida albicans*, *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides*, *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. *albedinis*, *Fusarium solani* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Additionally, it has been established that **SAL** shows interesting antiviral properties, for example, activity against human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). **SAL** has been reported to be a potent anticoccidial agent that is active towards *Eimeria acervulina*, *Eimeria brunetti*, *Eimeria maxima*, *Eimeria necatrix* and *Eimeria tenella*, and this activity is greater than that exhibited by commonly used coccidiostatic agents. As a result, **SAL** has been used in veterinary medicine as an additive to feed, a coccidiostatic agent and nonhormonal stimulator of poultry and cattle growth [11]. **SAL** proved to be ineffective against Gram-negative bacteria, which is related to the presence of an additional, outer cell membrane in their cells impermeable by this type of hydrophobic compounds [30].

In addition to the industrial use of **SAL**, it has been also shown that **SAL** effectively and selectively inhibits properties associated with different human cancer cells, including those that display multi-drug resistance (MDR). *In vitro* and *in vivo* activity of **SAL** against cholangiocarcinoma, colorectal, gastric, hepatocellular, leukemic, lung, nasopharyngeal, osteoblastoma, prostate and many other cancer cells has been demonstrated in the last 10 years [31–44]. The sensitizing effects of **SAL** in combination with radiotherapy or with different chemotherapeutic agents, including colchicine, gemcitabine, imatinib, tamoxifen and vinblastine, have been proven as well [45–59].

One of the reasons why tumors are so difficult to control is the presence of a small sub-population (2-5% of the tumor mass) of cancer cells inside a cancerous tumor. These cells, known as cancer stem cells (CSCs) or cancer initiating cells, are a sub-population of cancer cells with many clinical implications in most cancer types, including their ability to asymmetrically divide, differentiate and self-renew, to having increased intrinsic resistance to therapy, and their role in cancer metastases as reflected by their ability to initiate and drive micro- and macro-metastases [60,61]. Evidence from preclinical and clinical studies has demonstrated that most of the currently used chemotherapeutics effectively destroy the highly proliferating and relatively differentiated cells making the bulk of the tumor rather than the more quiescent CSCs. Paradoxically, the elimination of non-CSCs by such a treatment may provide more space for CSCs to expand and evolve into a more aggressive malignancy with higher self-renewal potential [62]. Targeted therapy is designed to destroy CSCs, thus leading to tumor shrinkage and slow regression of the disease, while the concept of combination therapy includes the features of both previously described therapies, resulting in complete eradication of the tumor [63].

In the light of the above reports, the search for effective ways to

destroy CSCs has become an extremely timely and important task to be solved by contemporary and future cancer therapy. The breakthrough in the perception of SAL as a novel CSC-selective chemotherapeutic drug candidate took place in 2009 when the screening studies performed on ~16,000 biologically active substances proved that only 32 tested compounds destroyed breast CSCs, and among of them the most active was **SAL**. This ionophore destroyed breast CSCs in vitro and inhibited mammary tumor growth in vivo with 100-fold improved selectivity when compared to the cytostatic drug taxol (paclitaxel), which is commonly used in the fight against this type of cancer [64]. What is worth noting, in 2012 the influence of SAL on cancer patients with invasive carcinoma of the head, neck, breast and ovary was confirmed. Therapy with the use of 200–250 μ g kg⁻¹ of **SAL** administered intravenously every second day for three weeks resulted in inhibition of disease progress for months without any serious long-term adverse side effects often encountered after the use of standard chemotherapeutic drugs, such as alopecia, nausea or emesis [65].

The precise anticancer mechanism of **SAL** needs still further investigation, but its high biological activity might be related to the natural ability of **SAL** to complex cations and transport them across the lipid membranes, which changes the Na⁺/K⁺ concentration gradient and intracellular pH. Consequently, these changes lead to mitochondrial injury, cell swelling, vacuolization and programmed cell death (apoptosis) [11]. Using an active fluorescent **SAL** conjugate, it has been also shown very recently that the molecular initiating event leading to selective reduction the proportion of CSCs after **SAL** treatment is strictly connected with a net outflux of the Ca²⁺ cations from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) as a result of **SAL**-mediated alkali-metal ion transport across the ER membrane [66].

The effects on several signal transduction pathways were also invoked to explain the change in phenotype composition after SAL treatment [67]. Of note is that SAL was found to inhibit Wnt signaling pathway involved in tumorigenesis and embryogenesis through more than one mechanism [68]; the other ones include KRas [69] and modulation of Hedgehog signaling [70–72]. Mechanistically, the demonstrated effects of the treatment of different types of human cancers with SAL include decreased mitochondrial membrane potential, decreased ATP levels, increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) production that caused DNA damage and cell death as well as interference with ABC drug transporters [40,73-79]. In addition, SAL induced apoptosis in human cancer cells not only by interacting with such transporters, but also by overexpression of Bcl-2 or 26S proteasomes with enhanced proteolytic activity [80]. In contrast, it has been documented that SAL is able to decrease the expression of Bcl-2 and simultaneously to increase the expression of Bax, and to cleave caspase-3 and caspase-9 as well [74].

A massive autophagic response to **SAL** in prostate and breast cancer cells has been also noted, and this response has been substantially stronger than that to the commonly used autophagic inducer – rapamycin [77]. On the other hand, it has been found recently that **SAL** exerts antiangiogenic and antitumorigenic activities by inhibiting vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2-mediated angiogenesis [81] and by suppressing the VEGF-VEGFR2-Akt/FAK signaling axis [82].

Due to the broad spectrum of interesting biological and pharmacological properties exhibited by **SAL**, the natural direction of research is synthesis of rationally designed **SAL**-based drug delivery systems and chemical modification of **SAL** structure, which can lead to obtaining unique systems/derivatives with significantly better biological activity and lower toxicity than those of the unmodified antibiotic. Such studies have been carried out for several years in different research groups around the world.

4. Drug delivery systems based on salinomycin

As mentioned above, targeting CSCs is an essential strategy for developing novel and effective cancer therapies to prevent disease progression, recurrence and emergence of MDR. Tumors display plasticity, so the targeting of CSCs without killing non-CSCs may therefore not result in the complete cancer elimination. For this reason, successful cancer therapy must eliminate both the bulk tumor cells as well as CSCs that are hidden inside the tumor [83,84]. **SAL** holds a great promise in this regard as it showed high potency in killing both cancer cells and CSCs of different origin, including those that are characterized by MDR phenotype [31-44]. SAL displayed however poor aqueous solubility (SAL was administered by intraperitoneal injection *in vivo* with the aid of ethanol only) [64,85], and some neural and muscular toxicity [79] when used in high concentrations. Several constructed SAL-based carriers may therefore hold great potential for tackling all these limitations (Fig. 4).

The unique physicochemical properties of nanomaterials provide the opportunities for multifunctional cancer therapy, imaging and diagnosis by improvement of the treatment efficacy while reducing detrimental side effects to normal tissues [86,87]. Nanocarrier-based therapeutics have been used to achieve improved bioavailability and stability, longer circulation times and higher drug loading efficiency over currently used drugs [88–90]. Recently, the scientists from many research groups around the world have successfully applied **SAL**-based nanomedicines to target not only non-CSCs, but also cancer cells with stem cell-like properties, leading to the elimination of tumor and to the prevention of cancer relapse.

For instance, SAL was conjugated to a hyaluronic acid-based nanogel to target CD44⁺ MDR cells (Fig. 4) [91]. CD44 receptor is expressed at the surface of many cancer cells that bind hyaluronic acid [92–94], allowing selective targeting of such nanogels to CSCs. This approach enhanced the bioavailability, delivery and cytotoxic activity of SAL in both MDR cell cultures (human breast and pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells) and multicellular spheroids relative to those of free drugs [91]. In 2014, SAL was loaded on polyelectrolyte-conjugated gold nanorods and proved to lead to inhibition in mammosphere-forming efficiency of treated human breast cancer cells and to a decrease in ALDH⁺ cell sub-population (Fig. 4) [95]. One year later, Zhang et al. established a gastric CSCsspecifically targeting drug delivery system, having SAL and chitosan coated single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) conjugated with hyaluronic acid (Fig. 4). The treatment of gastric cancer cells with this complex, selectively eradicated gastric CSCs and decreased both mammosphere- and colony-forming abilities of such cancer cells. The migration and invasion of gastric CSCs were significantly blocked as well [96]. Very recently, SAL nanoparticles have been shown to interfere with tumor cell growth and with the tumor microenvironment in an orthotopic model of pancreatic cancer [97].

In another approach, combinations of **SAL** with other chemotherapeutic drugs through nanocarrier systems that show synergistic effects to target both cancer cells and CSCs, have been designed. For example, therapeutic efficacy of combining **SAL** and paclitaxel after conjugation with biocompatible CD44 antibody conjugated SWCNTs via hydrazone linker allowing pH-responsive release mechanism, has been proposed (Fig. 4). The enhanced therapeutic effect of the combined therapy was confirmed both *in vitro* and *in vivo* compared to the treatment with individual drugconjugated nanocarriers or free drug suspensions [98]. An immunotolerant elastin-like polypeptide-based nanoparticles that released modified **SAL** under acidic conditions were also developed. Although no metastasis was detected in any of the mice, they



Fig. 4. Selected salinomycin-based drug delivery systems.

all died of primary tumor burdens. To overcome these limitations and improve the overall survival, the authors adopted a strategy similar to that mentioned above and applied a combination therapy of **SAL**-based nanoparticles and paclitaxel-based ones. Such a therapy effectively retarded primary orthotopic breast tumor growth and improved the overall mice survival [99,100]. Potent anticancer activity against different types of cancer and prominently reduced toxicity has been observed using other **SAL**-loaded nanoparticles as well [101–110].

Micelles and liposomes are the most extensively studied and understood pharmaceutical nanocarriers. These systems provide easier control, composition, size and in vivo stability in comparison with other drug delivery systems. Therapeutic agents in conjunction with such nanocarriers result in better pharmacokinetic properties of the drugs loaded on carriers thereby improving therapeutic activity [111]. In this context, in order to enhance the effect of eliminating breast cancer cells and reducing side effects, Zhang et al. have developed octreotide-modified SAL-loaded PEGylated polymeric micelles and paclitaxel-loaded PEGylated polymeric micelles. Thanks to the activity of paclitaxel against bulk cancer cells and the activity of SAL against CSCs, the proposed combination therapy with a targeted delivery system mounted a stronger anticancer response in vitro and in vivo via receptormediated endocytosis. The combination therapy was more effective than that with SAL alone in vivo [112]. Moreover, a type of dualfunctional SAL plus chloroquine liposomes have been proposed for treatment of liver cancer through the differentiation strategy [113]. Very interesting anticancer activity both in vitro and in vivo of SALloaded micelles, nanoliposomes, PLGA nanofibers, and lipoprotein particles against various cancer cells and CSCs, including MDR cancer cells, was also proved by other authors [114–120].

5. Chemical modification of salinomycin

Due to the wide spectrum of interesting biological and pharmacological properties exhibited by **SAL**, the natural direction of research is its chemical modification leading to the creation of unique derivatives characterized by a higher therapeutic index and lower toxicity than the parent compound. However, chemical modification of **SAL** is not trivial; **SAL** undergoes irreversible decomposition in the presence of mineral acids/bases and as a result of excessive heating [22]. For this reason, it is necessary to choose such methods of chemical modification that will not degrade the starting compound and will result in the expected reaction products with satisfactory yields.

Work related to the chemical modification of **SAL** is currently successfully carried out in many research groups (Huczyński, Jiang, Rodriguez, Strand, Tian, Wu) [121–150]. In the following sections the synthesis procedures and results of biological activity studies of the most interesting derivatives of **SAL** are presented.

5.1. Modification of salinomycin carboxyl group

The most numerous group of SAL derivatives includes its esters and amides obtained by the chemical modification of C1 carboxyl group. To date, Huczyński et al. have synthesized several dozen analogs of this type, among which various aliphatic, aliphaticaromatic and aromatic derivatives were found (Fig. 5) [121–129]. All SAL C1 esters and amides were more or less anticancer active depending on the cancer cell line studied. The tests were carried out on cancer cells of different origin, i.e. on vincristine-sensitive and vincristine-resistant leukemia (HL-60 and HL-60/vinc, respectively), and doxorubicin-sensitive and doxorubicin-resistant colon adenocarcinoma (LoVo and LoVo/DX, respectively). In addition, to determine the toxicity and selectivity, the effects of C1 esters and amides on normal mice embryonic fibroblasts (BALB/3T3) were determined. Antiproliferative activity was estimated by determining the IC₅₀ values, *i.e.* the concentration of the compound (expressed in µM) inhibiting in 50% the biological and biochemical functions of the cells (Fig. 5) [123-126].

According to the results obtained, the majority of **SAL** C1 derivatives are anticancer active at micromolar range of IC₅₀ (Fig. 5, analogs **2–13**), and overcome (strongly or moderately) simultaneously MDR of tumor cells, especially LoVo/DX cells, which suggests preferential activity of **SAL** analogs against this type of cancer. Most of the derivatives obtained were characterized by stronger MDR overcoming than **SAL** and two commonly used cytostatic drugs – cisplatin and doxorubicin [123–126]. Importantly, very recently **SAL** C1 derivatives have been shown to exhibit higher activity than the starting structure against primary acute



Fig. 5. Synthesis and anticancer activity of selected salinomycin C1 esters and amides.

lymphoblastic leukemia cells *in vitro* [129]. It has also been proved that the majority of C1 **SAL** esters and amides are less toxic to normal cells than cisplatin and doxorubicin, which pointed out their high therapeutic potential (Fig. 5) [123–126]. **SAL** derivatives have been tested for their antimicrobial activity as well. The studies clearly demonstrated that selected **SAL** analogs show antibacterial, antitubercular, and trypanocidal activity [122–125,127,128].

Huczyński et al. have also conducted the synthesis of a series of C1 **SAL** bioconjugates with *Cinchona* alkaloids (quinine, quinidine, cinchonine, cinchonidine), selected nucleosides (floxuridine, AZT), flavonoids (silybin) and blocked amino acids [130–134]. In this group, particularly interesting were the hybrids with floxuridine **25** [132], and methyl esters of L-phenylalanine **26**, L-histidine **27**, and L-glycine **28** because of their high antitumor activity (Fig. 6) [134]. Their activity against cancer cells was significantly higher than that of cisplatin and doxorubicin, including activity against biphenotypic myeloid leukemia (MV4-11), colorectal (HT-29, LS-180, SW707), and LoVo/DX cancer cells with MDR phenotype. It was an important observation because cancer cells may acquire resistance to cytostatic agents during long-term monochemotherapy and it may result in the recurrence of cancer and poor prognosis for cancer patients [132,134].

In 2017, Wu et al. obtained a series of 10 conjugates of **SAL** with hydroxamic acids linked by ester bonds [135]. Most of them,

particularly analogs 14-21, showed several times higher activity than SAL against colon (HT-29) and stomach (HGC-27) cancer cells, and especially against triple negative breast (MDA-MB-231) cancer cells (Fig. 6). This observation was explained by the ability of such conjugates to hydrolyze within tumor cells to produce SAL and the corresponding hydroxamic acid that results in the synergistic anticancer effects [135]. At the same time, it might explain much lower cytostatic activity of other SAL hybrids with hydroxamic acids obtained in the Strand group [136], linked by the amide bonds rather than the ester ones (Fig. 6, analogs 22–24). According to Wu et al., these types of conjugates had no possibility of hydrolysis to the starting components inside tumor cells due to the enzymatic stability of the amide bonds [135], which resulted in much lower biological activity of such hybrids [136]. Although the authors have suggested that the better membrane permeability and hydrolysis rate of the conjugates may lead to the activity improvements [135], it should be mentioned here that there is no evidence of the synergistic anticancer effects of SAL and the corresponding hydroxamic acid.

5.2. Modification of salinomycin hydroxyl groups

Another large group of **SAL** derivatives are the compounds obtained as a result of chemical modification of its hydroxyl groups.



Fig. 6. Synthesis and anticancer activity of selected salinomycin C1 conjugates.

Strand et al. performed regioselective O-acylation of all three hydroxyl groups of SAL in 2013 [137]. The results of the antiproliferative activity tests on human breast cancer cells (JIMT-1 and MCF-7) proved that regioselective modification of the allylic C20 hydroxyl of SAL opened the access to synthetic analogs that display increased cytotoxic activity relative to that of the native structure. Their IC₅₀ values were reduced by up to 20% compared to those of chemically unmodified SAL (Fig. 7, analogs 29-40) [137]. At the same time, it was shown that the most active derivatives in this series effectively destroy breast CSCs at nanomolar concentrations at which SAL remained inactive [138]. Moreover, the treatment with each of the three C20 O-acylated analogs 29, 37 and 39 (Fig. 7) has reduced colony forming efficiency and cell migration, and has increased the expression of the epithelial markers E-cadherin and β -catenin at the cell surface [138]. Importantly, exposure of human colorectal cancer cells (SW480 and SW620) to the selected C20 O- acylated analogs of **SAL** resulted in reduced tumor cell number and impaired tumor cell migration at lower concentrations than **SAL**. When used at micromolar concentrations, these effects were accompanied by induction of apoptotic cell death. **SAL** C20 acetate **29** and C20 ethyl carbonate **37** (Fig. 7) further exposed the improved activity against CSCs compared to that of the starting material [139].

On the other hand, Wu et al. have synthesized C20-*epi*-salinomycin where the stereochemical configuration at C20 position is inversed [140]. It was clearly proven that the inversion of configuration at C20 position was possible after blocking of C1 carboxyl group only, and using a substituted benzoic acid with a suitable acidity as an acylating agent. The Mitsunobu reaction proposed by these authors was effective using *para*-nitrobenzoic acid (pKa 3.43), while the intermediate **41** (Fig. 7) was not observed when benzoic acid (pKa 4.20) or *para*-bromobenzoic acid were used (pKa 3.97).



Fig. 7. Synthesis and anticancer activity of selected C20 *O*-acylated and C20 triazole derivatives of salinomycin and/or *epi*-salinomycin. ^{a)}No information on the standard deviation (SD) values has been found in scientific literature.

With access to the targeted C20-*epi*-salinomycin, Wu et al. have obtained a series of its *O*-acylated analogs (Fig. 7, analogs **42–46**) [140]. The results of anticancer activity tests carried out on colon

(HT-29), stomach (HGC-27) and triple negative breast (MDA-MB-231) cancer cells reveal that C20-*epi*-salinomycin shows a similar activity to that of **SAL**, whereas the activity of respective C20 *O*-

acylated analogs is even 2–10 times higher than that of **SAL**. In addition, derivatives **45** and **46** were characterized by a significantly higher selectivity as compared to that of the starting structure (Fig. 7) [140]. Mechanistically, the spatial configuration of C20 hydroxyl of **SAL** had little influence on the anticancer properties, but the *O*-acyl groups caused an obvious difference by producing possible effects on the stability and/or permeability of the **SAL**–alkali metal cation complexes [140].

Introduction of an azide group to SAL molecule was possible in the Mitsunobu reaction as well, using DPPA as a nucleophile. In this context, Jiang et al. have proved for the first time that the inversion of the configuration at C20 position creates a convenient site for the chemical modification of SAL, particularly by sterically volatile reagents. C20 azide 47 was then used to obtain several tens of SAL derivatives with a variety of aliphatic, aliphatic-aromatic and aromatic terminal alkynes using Cu(I)-catalyzed azide-alkyne 1,3dipolar cycloaddition reaction (Huisgen 'click' chemistry) (Fig. 7, analogs 48-53) [141]. The synthesized C20 triazole derivatives were tested for their activity against glioma (U87), cervical (Hela), breast (MCF-7) and colorectal (Caco2) cancer cells as well as normal human liver cells to check their toxicity (selectivity of action). The four analogs **50–53** were characterized by the cytostatic activity several and even a few dozen times higher than SAL (Fig. 7); C20 triazole derivatives were simultaneously less toxic to normal cells than the starting compound [141].

To improve the druggability of SAL, a library of C20-epi-amino-C20-deoxysalinomycin derivatives was synthesized (Fig. 7, analogs 55–64) from which a few novel SAL analogs with high potency and selectivity were identified through a comprehensive in vitro cytotoxicity study. The cytotoxicity of the obtained compounds was evaluated against a series of cancerous cells, including murine breast cancer cells (4T1), human promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL-60), adenocarcinomic human alveolar basal epithelial cells (A549), human cervical cancer cells (HeLa), human breast cancer cells (MCF-7), human colon adenocarcinoma cells (SW480), and human hepatocarcinoma cells (SMMC-7721); some of these derivatives were found to be over 80-fold more potent against selected cancer cells than SAL and simultaneously exhibited a similar toxicity [142]. Using a doxycycline-inducible K-ras^{G12V} expression cellular model, the authors have found that SAL and its C20-epi-amino-C20-deoxy derivatives may eliminate cancerous cells through pathways other than inhibition of oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria [142].

The C20 hydroxyl group of SAL might be chemoselectively oxidized with high yields to the C20 ketone group using activated manganese(IV) oxide (Fig. 8, analog 65) [143]. In 2017, Rodriguez et al. described a procedure for the synthesis of a series of amine derivatives of SAL obtained by stereoselective reductive amination of such a C20 ketone group (Fig. 8). Among these novel analogs, the most interesting derivative was C20-propargylaminosalinomycin **66** (Fig. 8) that showed almost 10-times higher antiproliferative activity against breast CSCs (HMLER CD24^{low}) than SAL, both in vitro and *in vivo*, with an IC₅₀ value of about 100 nM whilst maintaining selectivity over control cells [144]. According to the authors, a more potent activity and selectivity of action of 66 (Fig. 8) against breast CSCs has resulted from accumulation and sequestration of iron in lysosomes. In response to the ensuing cytoplasmic depletion of iron, cancer cells have triggered the degradation of ferritin in lysosomes, leading to further iron loading in this organelle. Ironmediated production of ROS has promoted lysosomal membrane permeabilization, activating finally a cell death pathway consistent with ferroptosis [144].

Interestingly, two conformationally restricted **SAL** derivatives by tethering hydroxyl groups at positions C1 and C20 through chains of different lengths were designed and synthesized (Fig. 9, analogs **72–73**). The cyclic derivatives showed better biological activities

than C1/C20 double-modified analogs **70**–**71** (Fig. 9), indicating the importance of the compact conformation for the ion binding capacity. In addition, the length of the connective chain plays a critical role in biological activities, thus cyclic derivative **73** preserved some pharmacological activity but derivative **72** with two carbon atoms shorter chain showed significantly reduced anticancer activity [145].

5.3. Modification of salinomycin ketone group and ring C

C11 ketone group, next to C1 carboxyl group, is directly involved in the binding of cations. Therefore, an interesting direction of research is to study all chemical modifications of this group that could affect the complexing properties of the compounds obtained, and thus their bioactivity. In 2017, Strand et al. proposed a diastereoselective method to reduce C11 ketone group; in the presence of LiBH₄, highly *anti*-selective reduction was identified, while using the Luche reduction (CeCl₃·7H₂O, NaBH₄), a highly *syn*-selective reduction was observed (with respect to the C10 methyl group) (Fig. 10, analogs **76** and **77** with absolute configuration *S* and *R* at C11 chiral center, respectively). It allowed the isolation of both novel derivatives in stereochemically pure form. However, the results of tests performed against breast cancer cells (JIMT-1 and MCF-7) demonstrated a significantly lower cytostatic activity of both C11 alcohols than that of the parent compound [143].

Characteristic of **SAL** is the presence of tricyclic 6-6-5 bisspiroketal ring system with *cis* isomerism, stiffening its molecular structure. For this reason, all kinds of manipulations in the ring *C* of **SAL**, the central site of this system, are of interest. Previously, the chemoselective oxidation of C20 hydroxyl group to C20 ketone group using activated MnO₂ was described by Strand et al. (Fig. 8, analog **65**) [143]. The same research group (Strand) successfully hydrogenated the C18=C19 double bond using an Adams catalyst, and proposed then the chemoselective oxidation of compound **80**, using Dess-Martin periodinane, that resulted in the generation of a diketone **81** (Fig. 10). The antiproliferative activity tests on breast cancer cells (JIMT-1 and MCF-7) have proven a few times lower activity of both these derivatives compared to that of unmodified **SAL** [143].

Strand et al. have also developed an effective strategy for the synthesis of C20-deoxysalinomycin **78** and its saturated derivative – C18,C19-dihydro-C20-deoxysalinomycin **79** (Fig. 10) to compare the biological activity of such analogs to that of the native compound. The tests against breast cancer cells (JIMT-1 and HCC1937) clearly indicated that both derivatives had to be used at higher concentrations than **SAL** to induce similar cellular effects. On the other hand, analogs **78** and **79** caused a reduction in the ratio of breast CSCs (CD44⁺/CD24⁻) similar to **SAL** [146].

Rodriguez et al. have performed recently an effective functionalization of C18=C19 double bond of SAL; the authors performed the $[\pi 2s + \pi 2s]$ photocycloaddition reaction which resulted in the generation of an apolar alkyn derivative 67 (Fig. 8). Unfortunately, this compound showed moderate anticancer activity but retained some selectivity compared to SAL [144]. Wu et al. have synthesized and then evaluated the antitumor activity of C17-epi-salinomycin 86, C17,C21-di-epi-salinomycin 88 and their C20 benzoylated derivatives 85 and 87, respectively (Fig. 11). It was shown that 86 and its analog 85 almost completely lost cytostatic activity, while 88 and its O-acylated derivative 87 showed significantly higher activity than SAL against colon (HT-29), stomach (HGC-27) and triplenegative breast (MDA-MB-231) cancer cells. Derivatives 87 and 88 (Fig. 11) were characterized simultaneously by high selectivity of action which proved that the configuration of C17 and C21-spiro atoms is of key importance for the bioactivity of derivatives of SAL [147].



Fig. 8. Synthesis and anticancer activity of C20-propargyloaminosalinomycin, and functionalization of the C18=C19 double bond of salinomycin.



Fig. 9. Synthesis and anticancer activity of conformationally constrained salinomycin derivatives.^{a)}No information on the standard deviation (SD) values has been found in scientific literature.

5.4. Dimerization of salinomycin

Until now, not much attention has been paid to ionophore antibiotics derivatives that are various types of their multivalent structures. Obtaining such structures is extremely interesting because of the potentially significant changes in the complexforming properties and hence their biological activities.

In scientific literature, synthetic procedures and results of biological activity of 12 various **SAL** dimers have been described [125,148,149]. In 2014, Huczyński et al. described the synthesis of three dimers, in which **SAL** molecules were connected by amide bonds through *n*-butyl, phenyl and biphenyl linkers. However, such dimers did not show better antiproliferative activity than **SAL** against vincristine-sensitive and vincristine-resistant human leukemic cells (HL-60 and HL-60/vinc, respectively) as well as doxorubicin-sensitive and doxorubicin-resistant colon adenocarcinoma cells (LoVo and LoVo/DX, respectively) [125].

Furthermore, Tian et al. obtained in 2017 a series of several triazole derivatives of **SAL**, including its four dimers connected at C20 position (Fig. 12, analogs **89–92**). It should be emphasized that in this group of compounds, the most active against breast cancer cells (MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231) turned out to be all dimer structures which showed several times higher activity than **SAL** on MCF-7 cells and comparable activity to the starting compound against

M. Antoszczak / European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 166 (2019) 48-64



Fig. 10. Synthesis and anticancer activity of C11 alcohols and derivatives obtained by chemical modification of salinomycin C-ring.



Fig. 11. Synthesis and anticancer activity of C17-epi-salinomycin, C17,C21-di-epi-salinomycin and their benzoylated derivatives.

MDA-MB-231 cells [148]. The activity of multivalent structures was also comparable to that demonstrated by the simple C20 *O*-acylated analogs described above (Fig. 7, analogs **29–40**) [137].

In the same year, Strand et al. presented the effective methods for the synthesis of **SAL** C1 and C20 dimers exhibiting C₂ symmetry, based on the Glaser coupling reaction. The tests carried out on colon adenocarcinoma cells sensitive and resistant to doxorubicin (LoVo and LoVo/DX, respectively) as well as breast cancer cells (JIMT-1, MCF-7, SKBR-3) showed that the C20-O-terephthalate dimer **93** is active in micromolar concentrations towards the used series of cancer cell lines, and this activity was comparable to that of **SAL** (Fig. 12). In addition, compound **93** was found to be less toxic to normal mammary gland cells (MCF-10A) than cisplatin and doxorubicin, proving a high therapeutic potential of this derivative. On the other hand, all novel **SAL** C1 dimers were practically inactive in these studies [149].

5.5. Double-modified salinomycin derivatives

Within the library of analogs investigated, **SAL** C1 esters/amides (Fig. 5, analogs **2–13**) and **SAL** C20 O-acyl derivatives (Fig. 7, analogs **29–40**) have shown noteworthy improvements in the biological activity profile [122–129,137–139]. In 2018, Strand et al. synthesized the first analogs combining such modifications (Fig. 13, analogs **94–105**) [150].

Evaluation of the anticancer activity against a series of cancer cell lines, including colon adenocarcinoma cell line (LoVo) and its doxorubicin-resistant subline (LoVo/DX) as well as breast cancer cell lines (JIMT-1, MCF-7, and SKBR-3), showed that acylation of the C20 hydroxyl group improved the activity of **SAL** C1 amides, but not of the corresponding C1 esters. With respect to the acyl groups, the analogs from the C20 carbamate series were consistently more

active than those from the ester and carbonate series (Fig. 13) [150].

Importantly, the activity of several of the double-modified analogs surpasses that of commonly used cytostatic drugs cisplatin and doxorubicin in the LoVo/DX cell line (Fig. 13). In the light of the anticancer activity of the double-modified derivatives in the low μ M concentration range, the low toxicity against the normal breast MCF-10A cell line is also noteworthy (Fig. 13). All analogs were tested against primary acute lymphoblastic leukemia ALL-5 cells in standard cell viability assays; three were more potent than **SAL** (Fig. 13, analogs **95, 100** and **105**) [150].

Further studies revealed that selected analogs induced characteristics of apoptotic cell death and increased expression of p53. Additionally, using an *ex vivo* model of breast tumor, tumor cell viability significantly decreased after treatment with **SAL** or its double-modified derivative **100** (Fig. 13) in a time-dependent manner [150]. These findings support the double-modification of **SAL** as a useful strategy to generate promising lead compounds with interesting biological activity profiles for targeting various types of cancer.

6. Conclusions

A new chapter has been opened in the chemical and biological studies of ionophore antibiotics. The results of previous studies encourage scientists from around the world to perform chemical modifications of salinomycin (**SAL**) aimed at obtaining derivatives with higher biological activity and lower toxicity, *i.e.* compounds with a higher therapeutic index, than that of the starting compound. In just a few years, promising anticancer activity of **SAL** and **SAL**-based drug delivery systems against a range of cancer types has been proven. The progress in structural modification of the **SAL** molecule as well as evaluation of biological properties of resulted



Fig. 12. Synthesis and anticancer activity of selected salinomycin dimers.



Fig. 13. Synthesis and anticancer activity of double-modified salinomycin derivatives. ^{a)}Inhibition of proliferation did not exceed 50% at the highest concentration tested of 100 μg mL⁻¹; ^{b)}inhibition of proliferation did not exceed 50% at the highest concentration tested of 10 μM.

derivatives has been also significant in the last decade.

Cancer is considered as one of the most serious health problems today. Over the past two decades, cancer stem cells (CSCs) have emerged as essential players in the pathogenesis of cancer, with the capacity to initiate, maintain and repopulate different tumors. Within the tumor bulk, CSCs represent a small sub-population, bestowed with the capacity to self-renew and yield heterogeneous lineages of cancer cells. In many scenarios, CSCs exhibit increased resistance toward irradiation and chemotherapy, and given their spectacular ability to replenish the tumor, they constitute a substantial therapeutic challenge.

In this context, the high efficacy of **SAL** and its analogs against tumors with multi-drug resistance seems to be of particular interest. Their unique and very selective mode of action by destroying CSCs may also provide a valuable potential for preventing cancer metastasis and recurrence. Also noteworthy is the ability of **SAL** to sensitize cancer cells treated with chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy. In my opinion, there will be many scientific articles about new discoveries in the field of cytostatic activity of **SAL** and its semi-synthetic derivatives in the next few years. There are also many indications that such compounds will become widely used and effective drugs in future cancer therapy, opening a new era in the cancer chemotherapy. Our research group is currently conducting intensive studies of further new derivatives of **SAL** and we expect that research inquisitiveness and persistence in pursuing the goal will lead to breakthroughs in this field.

Finally, I am convinced that the studies of the chemical modification strategies and structure-activity relationship of **SAL** could lead to finding more potent drug candidates and new drug delivery systems to achieve higher therapeutic efficacy. The results of the research presented in this review article clearly indicate that selected derivatives of **SAL** seem to be excellent candidates for novel chemotherapeutic drugs. However, several questions have to be answered in further studies. Firstly, analysis of the anticancer activity of the most promising analogs should be performed in animal models. Secondly, the potential toxic side effects of such derivatives have to be investigated in *in vivo* tests. Thirdly, although results of intensive studies have brought significant progress in this issue, the precise anticancer mechanism of **SAL** analogs is not fully understood and needs further investigation. Fourthly, the synergistic effects of the treatment with **SAL** derivatives in combination with other chemotherapeutic drugs or radiotherapy, that may significantly increase the effectiveness of the dual therapy applied, have to be evaluated. Although the increased activity of selected **SAL** analogs strongly suggest that similar effects as that of unmodified **SAL** can be induced at lower concentrations, which may be of great value towards their potential pre-clinical usage, only positive results of in-depth biological tests can open the door for their future therapeutic use.

Acknowledgment

M.A. wishes to acknowledge the Polish Science Centre (NCN) for financial support by grant SONATA (2016/23/D/ST5/00242) and the Foundation for Polish Science for a scholarship START.

References

- A. Jemal, F. Bray, M.M. Center, J. Ferlay, E. Ward, D. Forman, Global cancer statistics, CA Cancer J. Clin. 61 (2011) 69–90.
- [2] World Health Organization Cancer, [on-line access: 2018–12–03]. http:// www.who.int/cancer/en/.
- [3] A. Huczyński, Polyether ionophores promising bioactive molecules for cancer therapy, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 22 (2012) 7002–7010.
- [4] G.F. Gause, M.G. Brazhnikova, Gramicidin S and its use in the treatment of infected wounds, Nature 154 (1944) 703.
- [5] G.F. Gause, M.G. Brazhnikova, Gramicidin S: origin and mode of action, Lancet 244 (1944) 715–716.
- [6] C. Moore, B.C. Pressman, Mechanism of action of valinomycin on mitochondria, Biochim. Biophys. Res. Commun. 15 (1964) 562–567.
- [7] J. Rutkowski, B. Brzezinski, Structures and properties of naturally occurring polyether antibiotics, BioMed Res. Int. 2013 (2013) 162513.

- [8] J.W. Westley, Polyether antibiotics: naturally occurring acid ionophores, in: J.W. Westley (Ed.), Biology vol. 1, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 1982.
- [9] J.W. Westley, olyether antibiotics: naturally occurring acid ionophores, in: J.W. Westley (Ed.), Biology vol. 2, Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 1983.
- [10] A. Huczyński, Salinomycin a new cancer drug candidate, Chem. Biol. Drug Des. 79 (2012) 235–238.
- [11] M. Antoszczak, J. Rutkowski, A. Huczyński, Structure and biological activity of polyether ionophores and their semi-synthetic derivatives, in: G. Brahmachari (Ed.), Bioactive Natural Products. Chemistry and Biology, Weinheim, 2015.
- [12] Y.N. Antonenko, T.I. Rokitskaya, A. Huczyński, Electrogenic and nonelectrogenic ion fluxes across lipid and mitochondrial membranes mediated by monensin and monensin ethyl ester, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr. 1848 (2015) 995–1004.
- [13] A. Huczyński, J. Janczak, D. Łowicki, B. Brzezinski, Monensin A acid complexes as a model of electrogenic transport of sodium cation, Biochim. Biophys. Acta Biomembr. 1818 (2012) 2108–2119.
- [14] O. Warburg, On the origin of cancer cells, Science 123 (1956) 309–314.
- [15] Y. Miyazaki, M. Shibuya, H. Sugawara, O. Kawaguchi, C. Hirsoe, Salinomycin, a new polyether antibiotic, J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 27 (1974) 814–821.
- [16] H. Kinashi, N. Otake, H. Yonehara, S. Sato, Y. Saito, Studies on the ionophorous antibiotics. I. The crystal and molecular structure of salinomycin piodophenacyl ester, Acta Crystallogr. 31 (1975) 2411–2415.
- [17] Y. Kishi, S. Hatakeyama, M.D. Lewis, Total synthesis of narasin and salinomycin, in: K.J. Laidler (Ed.), Frontiers of Chemistry, Oxford, 1982.
- [18] J.S. Yadav, V.K. Singh, P. Srihari, Formation of substituted tetrahydropyrans through oxetane ring opening: application to the synthesis of C1-C17 fragment of salinomycin, Org. Lett. 16 (2014) 836–839.
- [19] J. Esteve, C. Jiménez, J. Nebot, J. Velasco, P. Romea, F. Urpí, Highly stereoselective titanium-mediated aldol reactions from chiral α -silyloxy ketones. A reliable tool for the synthesis of natural products, Tetrahedron 67 (2011) 6045–6056.
- [20] J. Sperry, Y.C. Liu, M.A. Brimble, Synthesis of natural products containing spiroketals via intramolecular hydrogen abstraction, Org. Biomol. Chem. 8 (2010) 29–38.
- [21] M.A. Brimble, F.A. Farés, Synthesis of bis-spiroacetal ring systems, Tetrahedron 55 (1999) 7661–7706.
- [22] P.J. Kocieński, R.C.D. Brown, A. Pommier, M. Procter, B. Schmidt, Synthesis of salinomycin, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 (1998) 9–40.
- [23] M.A. Brimble, H. Prabaharan, Approaches to the D–E ring of the polyether antibiotic salinomycin using Sharpless asymmetric dihydroxylation, Tetrahedron 54 (1998) 2113–2128.
- [24] M.E. Yurkovich, P.A. Tyrakis, H. Hong, Y. Sun, M. Samborskyy, K. Kamiya, P.F. Leadlay, A late-stage intermediate in salinomycin biosynthesis is revealed by specific mutation in the biosynthetic gene cluster, Chembiochem 13 (2012) 66–71.
- [25] M. Suzuki, R. Ueoka, K. Takada, S. Okada, S. Ohtsuka, Y. Ise, S. Matsunaga, Isolation of spirastrellolides A and B from a marine sponge Epipolasis sp. and their cytotoxic activities, J. Nat. Prod. 75 (2012) 1192–1195.
- [26] D.H. Berg, R.L. Hamill, The isolation and characterization of narasin, a new polyether antibiotic, J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 30 (1978) 1–6.
- [27] J.W. Westley, J.F. Blount, R.H. Evans Jr., C. Liu, C-17 epimers of deoxy-(O-8)salinomycin from Streptomyces albus (ATCC 21838), J. Antibiot. (Tokyo) 30 (1977) 610–612.
- [28] M. Mitani, T. Yamanishi, Y. Miyazaki, Salinomycin: a new monovalent cation ionophore, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 66 (1975) 1231–1236.
- [29] M. Antoszczak, J. Janczak, B. Brzezinski, A. Huczyński, Spectroscopic and structural studies of the first complex formed between salinomycin and organic amine, J. Mol. Struct. 1130 (2017) 719–726.
- [30] J. Guyot, G. Jeminet, M. Prudhomme, M. Sancelme, R. Meiniel, Interaction of the calcium ionophore A.23187 (Calcimycin) with Bacillus cereus and Escherichia coli, Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 16 (1993) 192–195.
- [31] J. Klose, E. Guerlevik, T. Trostel, F. Kühnel, T. Schmidt, M. Schneider, A. Ulrich, Salinomycin inhibits cholangiocarcinoma growth by inhibition of autophagic flux, Oncotarget 9 (2017) 3619–3630.
- [32] J. Klose, J. Eissele, C. Volz, S. Schmitt, A. Ritter, S. Ying, T. Schmidt, U. Heger, M. Schneider, A. Ulrich, Salinomycin inhibits metastatic colorectal cancer growth and interferes with Wnt/β-catenin signaling in CD133+ human colorectal cancer cells, BMC Canc. 16 (2016) 896–910.
- [33] M. Antoszczak, A. Huczyński, Anticancer activity of polyether ionophore salinomycin, Anti-cancer Agents Med. Chem. 15 (2015) 575–591.
- [34] J. Klose, M.V. Stankov, M. Kleine, W. Ramackers, D. Panayotova-Dimitrova, M.D. Jäger, J. Klempnauer, M. Winkler, H. Bektas, G.M. Behrens, F.W. Vondran, Inhibition of autophagic flux by salinomycin results in anticancer effect in hepatocellular carcinoma cells, PLoS One 9 (2014), e95970.
- [35] D. Wu, Y. Zhang, J. Huang, Z. Fan, F. Shi, S. Wang, Salinomycin inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of human nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell in vitro and suppresses tumor growth in vivo, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 443 (2014) 712–717.
- [36] K. Arafat, R. Iratni, T. Takahashi, K. Parekh, Y. Al Dhaheri, T.E. Adrian, S. Attoub, Inhibitory effects of salinomycin on cell survival, colony growth, migration, and invasion of human non-small cell lung cancer A549 and LNM35: involvement of NAG-1, PLoS One 8 (2013), e66931.
- [37] L.Q. Zhu, Y.F. Zhen, Y. Zhang, Z.X. Guo, J. Dai, X.D. Wang, Salinomycin activates AMP-activated protein kinase-dependent autophagy in cultured

osteoblastoma cells: a negative regulator against cell apoptosis, PLoS One 8 (2013), e84175.

- [38] F. Wang, L. He, W.Q. Dai, Y.P. Xu, D. Wu, C.L. Lin, S.M. Wu, P. Cheng, Y. Zhang, M. Shen, C.F. Wang, J. Lu, Y.Q. Zhou, X.F. Xu, L. Xu, C.Y. Guo, Salinomycin inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells in vitro and in vivo, PLoS One 7 (2012), e50638.
- [39] T. Lieke, W. Ramackers, S. Bergmann, J. Klempnauer, M. Winkler, J. Klose, Impact of salinomycin on human cholangiocarcinoma: induction of apoptosis and impairment of tumor cell proliferation in vitro, BMC Canc. 12 (2012) 466–477.
- [40] K. Ketola, M. Hilvo, T. Hyötyläinen, A. Vuoristo, A.L. Ruskeepää, M. Orešič, O. Kallioniemi, K. Iljin, Salinomycin inhibits prostate cancer growth and migration via induction of oxidative stress, Br. J. Canc. 106 (2012) 99–106.
- [41] Q.M. Zhi, X.H. Chen, J. Ji, J.N. Zhang, J.F. Li, Q.Cai, B.Y. Liu, Q.L. Gu, Z.G. Zhu, Y.Y. Yu, Salinomycin can effectively kill ALDHhigh stem-like cells on gastric cancer, Biomed. Pharmacother. 65 (2011) 509–515.
- [42] Y. Wang, Effects of salinomycin on cancer stem cell in human lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells, Med. Chem. 7 (2011) 106–111.
 [43] K.Y. Kim, S.N. Yu, S.Y. Lee, S.S. Chun, Y.L. Choi, Y.M. Park, C.S. Song,
- [43] K.Y. Kim, S.N. Yu, S.Y. Lee, S.S. Chun, Y.L. Choi, Y.M. Park, C.S. Song, B. Chatterjee, S.C. Ahn, Salinomycin-induced apoptosis of human prostate cancer cells due to accumulated reactive oxygen species and mitochondrial membrane depolarization, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 413 (2011) 80–86.
- [44] D. Fuchs, V. Daniel, M. Sadeghi, G. Opelz, C. Naujokat, Salinomycin overcomes ABC transporter-mediated multidrug and apoptosis resistance in human leukemia stem cell-like KG-1a cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 394 (2010) 1098–1104.
- [45] T. Gehrke, S. Hackenberg, B. Polat, G. Wohlleben, R. Hagen, N. Kleinsasser, A. Scherzad, Combination of salinomycin and radiation effectively eliminates head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells in vitro, Oncol. Rep. 39 (2018) 1991–1998.
- [46] C.L. Tung, J.C. Chen, C.H. Wu, Y.S. Peng, W.C. Chen, H.Y. Zheng, Y.J. Jian, C.L. Wei, Y.T. Cheng, Y.W. Lin, Salinomycin acts through reducing AKTdependent thymidylate synthase expression to enhance erlotinib-induced cytotoxicity in human lung cancer cells, Exp. Cell Res. 357 (2017) 59–66.
- [47] Z.Z. Zou, P.P. Nie, Y.W. Li, B.X. Hou, Rui-Li, X.P. Shi, Z.K. Ma, B.W. Han, X.Y. Luo, Synergistic induction of apoptosis by salinomycin and gefitinib through lysosomal and mitochondrial dependent pathway overcomes gefitinib resistance in colorectal cancer, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 22414–22432.
- [48] G. Zhang, W. Wang, C. Yao, J. Ren, S. Zhang, M. Han, Salinomycin overcomes radioresistance in nasopharyngeal carcinoma cells by inhibiting Nrf2 level and promoting ROS generation, Biomed. Pharmacother. 91 (2017) 147–154.
- [49] E.A. Dunlop, C.E. Johnson, M. Wiltshire, R.J. Errington, A.R. Tee, Targeting protein homeostasis with nelfinavir/salinomycin dual therapy effectively induces death of mTORC1 hyperactive cells, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 48711–48724.
- [50] R. Venkatadri, A.K.V. Iyer, V. Kaushik, N. Azad, A novel resveratrol-salinomycin combination sensitizes ER-positive breast cancer cells to apoptosis, Pharmacol. Rep. 69 (2017) 788–797.
- [51] Z. Zhang, J. Zhao, Q. Pang, A. Wang, M. Chen, X. Wei, An in vitro study on the effects of the combination of salinomycin with cisplatin on human gastric cancer cells, Mol. Med. Rep. 16 (2017) 1031–1038.
- [52] Z. Zhang, J. Zhao, Z. Mi, Q. Pang, A. Wang, M. Chen, X. Liu, X. Wei, T. Liu, Effects of salinomycin and 17-AAG on proliferation of human gastric cancer cells in vitro, Mol. Med. Rep. 16 (2017) 1063–1070.
- [53] Z. Yu, H. Cheng, H. Zhu, M. Cao, C. Lu, S. Bao, Y. Pan, Y. Li, Salinomycin enhances doxorubicin sensitivity through reversing the epithelial-mesenchymal transition of cholangiocarcinoma cells by regulating ARK5, Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res. 50 (2017) e6147.
- [54] S. Manmuan, N. Sakunrangsit, W. Ketchart, Salinomycin overcomes acquired tamoxifen resistance through AIB1 and inhibits cancer cell invasion in endocrine resistant breast cancer, Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. 44 (2017) 1042–1052.
- [55] S. Koeck, A. Amann, J.M. Huber, G. Gamerith, W. Hilbe, H. Zwierzina, The impact of metformin and salinomycin on transforming growth factor βinduced epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines, Oncol. Lett. 11 (2016) 2946–2952.
- [56] J.C. Ko, H.Y. Zheng, W.C. Chen, Y.S. Peng, C.H. Wu, C.L. Wei, J.C. Chen, Y.W. Lin, Salinomycin enhances cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity in human lung cancer cells via down-regulation of AKT-dependent thymidylate synthase expression, Biochem. Pharmacol. 122 (2016) 90–98.
- [57] F. Wang, W. Dai, Y. Wang, M. Shen, K. Chen, P. Cheng, Y. Zhang, C. Wang, J. Li, Y. Zheng, J. Lu, J. Yang, R. Zhu, H. Zhang, Y. Zhou, L. Xu, C. Guo, The synergistic in vitro and in vivo antitumor effect of combination therapy with salinomycin and 5-fluorouracil against hepatocellular carcinoma, PLoS One 9 (2014), e97414.
- [58] A. Calzolari, E. Saulle, M.L. De Angelis, L. Pasquini, A. Boe, F. Pelacchi, L. Ricci-Vitiani, M. Baiocchi, U. Testa, Salinomycin potentiates the cytotoxic effects of TRAIL on glioblastoma cell lines, PLoS One 9 (2014), e94438.
- [59] G.N. Zhang, Y. Liang, L.J. Zhou, S.P. Chen, G. Chen, T.P. Zhang, T. Kang, Y.P. Zhao, Combination of salinomycin and gemcitabine eliminates pancreatic cancer cells, Cancer Lett. 313 (2011) 137–144.
- [60] T. Reya, S.J. Morrison, M.F. Clarke, I.L. Weissman, Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells, Nature 414 (2001) 105–111.
- [61] J.P. Medema, Cancer stem cells: the challenges ahead, Nat. Cell Biol. 15

(2013) 338-344.

- [62] F. Islam, V. Gopalan, R.A. Smith, A.K. Lam, Translational potential of cancer stem cells: a review of the detection of cancer stem cells and their roles in cancer recurrence and cancer treatment, Exp. Cell Res. 335 (2015) 135-147. J. Kaiser, The cancer stem cell gamble, Science 347 (2015) 226–229. [63]
- [64] P.B. Gupta, T.T. Onder, G. Jiang, K. Tao, C. Kuperwasser, R.A. Weinberg, E.S. Lander, Identification of selective inhibitors of cancer cells by highthroughput screening, Cell 138 (2009) 645-659.
- [65] C. Naujokat, R. Steinhart, Salinomycin as a drug for targeting human cancer stem cells, J. Biomed. Biotechnol. 2012 (2012) 950658.
- [66] X. Huang, B. Borgström, J. Stegmayr, Y. Abassi, M. Kruszyk, H. Leffler, L. Persson, S. Albinsson, R. Massoumi, I.G. Scheblykin, C. Hegardt, S. Oredsson, D. Strand, The molecular basis for inhibition of stemlike cancer cells by salinomycin, ACS Cent, Sci. 4 (2018) 760–767.
- [67] M. Antoszczak, A medicinal chemistry perspective on salinomycin as a potent anticancer and anti-CSCs agent, Eur. J. Med. Chem. (2019), https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.eimech.2018.12.057
- [68] D. Lu, M.Y. Choi, J. Yu, J.E. Castro, T.J. Kipps, D.A. Carson, Salinomycin inhibits Wnt signaling and selectively induces apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108 (2011) 13253–13257.
- [69] A.K. Najumudeen, A. Jaiswal, B. Lectez, C. Oetken-Lindholm, C. Guzmán, E. Siliamäki, I.M. Posada, E. Lacev, T. Aittokallio, D. Abankwa, Cancer stem cell drugs target K-ras signaling in a stemness context, Oncogene 35 (2016) 5248-5262
- [70] Y. Lu, C. Zhang, Q. Li, J. Mao, W. Ma, X. Yu, Z. Hou, L. Li, Inhibitory effect of salinomycin on human breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231 proliferation through Hedgehog signaling pathway, Chin. J. Pathol. 44 (2015) 395–398.
- [71] Y.Z. Fu, Y.Y. Yan, M. He, O.H. Xiao, W.F. Yao, L. Zhao, H.Z. Wu, Z.I. Yu, M.Y. Zhou, M.T. Lv, S.S. Zhang, J.J. Chen, M.J. Wei, Salinomycin induces se-lective cytotoxicity to MCF-7 mammosphere cells through targeting the Hedgehog signaling pathway, Oncol. Rep. 35 (2016) 912-922.
- [72] Y. Lu, W. Ma, J. Mao, X. Yu, Z. Hou, S. Fan, B. Song, H. Wang, J. Li, L. Kang, P. Liu, Q. Liu, L. Li, Salinomycin exerts anticancer effects on human breast carcinoma MCF-7 cancer stem cells via modulation of Hedgehog signaling, Chem. Biol. Interact. 228 (2015) 100-107.
- [73] S.J. Zhao, X.J. Wang, Q.J. Wu, C. Liu, D.W. Li, X.T. Fu, H.F. Zhang, L.R. Shao, J.Y. Sun, B.L. Sun, J. Zhai, C.D. Fan, Induction of G1 cell cycle arrest in human glioma cells by salinomycin through triggering ROS-mediated DNA damage in vitro and in vivo, Neurochem. Res. 42 (2017) 997-1005.
- [74] S.H. Kim, Y.J. Choi, K.Y. Kim, S.N. Yu, Y.K. Seo, S.S. Chun, K.T. Noh, J.T. Suh, S.C. Ahn, Salinomycin simultaneously induces apoptosis and autophagy through generation of reactive oxygen species in osteosarcoma U2OS cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 473 (2016) 607-613.
- [75] H. Liu, M.Y. Lu, Z.M. He, Anti-proliferative effect of salinomycin on doxorubicin-resistant human breast cancer MCF-7/DOX cells, Chin. Pharmacol. Bull. 31 (2015) 549-554.
- [76] A. Managò, L. Leanza, L. Carraretto, N. Sassi, S. Grancara, R. Quintana-Cabrera, V. Trimarco, A. Toninello, L. Scorrano, L. Trentin, G. Semenzato, E. Gulbins, M. Zoratti, I. Szabò, Early effects of the antineoplastic agent salinomycin on mitochondrial function, Cell Death Dis. 6 (2015) e1930.
- [77] J.R. Jangamreddy, S. Ghavami, J. Grabarek, G. Kratz, E. Wiechec, B.A. Fredriksson, R.K. Rao Pariti, A. Cieślar-Pobuda, S. Panigrahi, M.J. Łos, Salinomycin induces activation of autophagy, mitophagy and affects mitochondrial polarity: differences between primary and cancer cells, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1833 (2013) 2057-2069.
- [78] B. Verdoodt, M. Vogt, I. Schmitz, S.-T. Liffers, A. Tannapfel, A. Mirmohammadsadegh, Salinomycin induces autophagy in colon and breast cancer cells with concomitant generation of reactive oxygen species, PLoS One 7 (2012), e44132.
- [79] W. Boehmerle, M. Endres, Salinomycin induces calpain and cytochrome cmediated neuronal cell death, Cell Death Dis. 2 (2011) e168.
- [80] D. Fuchs, A. Heinold, G. Opelz, V. Daniel, C. Naujokat, Salinomycin induces apoptosis and overcomes apoptosis resistance in human cancer cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 390 (2009) 743-749.
- [81] T. Li, X. Liu, Q. Shen, W. Yang, Z. Huo, Q. Liu, H. Jiao, J. Chen, Salinomycin exerts anti-angiogenic and anti-tumorigenic activities by inhibiting vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2-mediated angiogenesis, Oncotarget 7 2016) 26580-26592.
- [82] Y.L. Bi, P.Y. Mi, S.J. Zhao, H.M. Pan, H.J. Li, F. Liu, L.R. Shao, H.F. Zhang, P. Zhang, S.L. Jiang, Salinomycin exhibits anti-angiogenic activity against human glioma in vitro and in vivo by suppressing the VEGF-VEGFR2-AKT/ FAK signaling axis, Int. J. Mol. Med. 39 (2017) 1255-1261.
- [83] E. Batlle, H. Clevers, Cancer stem cells revisited, Nat. Med. 23 (2017) 1124-1134.
- [84] C.E. Meacham, S.J. Morrison, Tumor heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity, Nature 501 (2013) 328-337.
- [85] R. Jayashree, S.O. Prasher, R. Kaur, R.M. Patel, Effect of soil pH on sorption of salinomycin in clay and sandy soils, Afr. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 5 (2011) 661-667
- O.S. Muddineti, B. Ghosh, S. Biswas, Current trends in using polymer coated [86] gold nanoparticles for cancer therapy, Int. J. Pharm. 484 (2015) 252-267.
- [87] J.L. Markman, A. Rekechenetskiy, E. Holler, J.Y. Ljubimova, Nanomedicine therapeutic approaches to overcome cancer drug resistance, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 65 (2013) 1866–1879.
- [88] S. Shen, J.X. Xia, J. Wang, Nanomedicine-mediated cancer stem cell therapy,

Biomaterials 74 (2016) 1-18.

- [89] C. Luo, J. Sun, B. Sun, Z. He, Prodrug-based nanoparticulate drug delivery strategies for cancer therapy, Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 35 (2014) 556-566.
- [90] Y. Zhao, D.Y. Alakhova, A.V. Kabanov, Can nanomedicines kill cancer stem cells? Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 65 (2013) 1763-1783.
- [91] X. Wei, T.H. Senanayake, G. Warren, S.V. Vinogradov, Hyaluronic acid-based nanogel-drug conjugates with enhanced anticancer activity designed for the targeting of CD44-positive and drug-resistant tumors, Bioconjug. Chem. 24 (2013) 658 - 668
- [92] G. Tripodo, A. Trapani, M.L. Torre, G. Giammona, G. Trapani, D. Mandracchia, Hvaluronic acid and its derivatives in drug delivery and imaging: recent advances and challenges, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 97 (2015) 400–416.
- [93] X. Wang, S. Li, Y. Shi, X. Chuan, J. Li, T. Zhong, H. Zhang, W. Dai, B. He, O Zhang The development of site-specific drug delivery nanocarriers based on receptor mediation, J. Contr. Release 193 (2014) 139-153.
- [94] V.M. Platt, F.C. Szoka Ir., Anticancer therapeutics: targeting macromolecules and nanocarriers to hyaluronan or CD44, a hyaluronan receptor, Mol. Pharm. 5 (2008) 474-486.
- [95] Y. Xu, J. Wang, X. Li, Y. Liu, L. Dai, X. Wu, C. Chen, Selective inhibition of breast cancer stem cells by gold nanorods mediated plasmonic hyperthermia, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 4667-4677.
- [96] H.J. Yao, Y.G. Zhang, L. Sun, Y. Liu, The effect of hyaluronic acid functionalized carbon nanotubes loaded with salinomycin on gastric cancer stem cells, Biomaterials 35 (2014) 9208–9223
- [97] Z. Daman, H. Faghihi, H. Montazeri, Salinomycin nanoparticles interfere with tumor cell growth and the tumor microenvironment in an orthotopic model of pancreatic cancer, Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 2 (2018) 1-9.
- [98] A. Al Farai, A.S. Shaik, E. Ratemi, R. Halwani, Combination of drug-conjugated SWCNT nanocarriers for efficient therapy of cancer stem cells in a breast cancer animal model, J. Contr. Release 225 (2016) 240–251.
- [99] P. Zhao, G. Xia, S. Dong, Z.X. Jiang, M. Chen, An iTEP-salinomycin nanoparticle that specifically and effectively inhibits metastases of 4T1 orthotopic breast tumors, Biomaterials 93 (2016) 1-9.
- [100] P. Zhao, S. Dong, J. Bhattacharyya, M. Chen, iTEP nanoparticle-delivered salinomycin displays an enhanced toxicity to cancer stem cells in orthotopic breast tumors, Mol. Pharm. 11 (2014) 2703-2712.
- [101] Y.B. Zeng, Z.C. Yu, Y.N. He, T. Zhang, L.B. Du, Y.M. Dong, H.W. Chen, Y.Y. Zhang, W.Q. Wang, Salinomycin-loaded lipid-polymer nanoparticles with anti-CD20 aptamers selectively suppress human CD20+ melanoma stem cells, Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 39 (2018) 261-274.
- [102] Y. Mi, Y. Huang, J. Deng, The enhanced delivery of salinomycin to CD133+ ovarian cancer stem cells through CD133 antibody conjugation with poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid)-poly(ethylene glycol) nanoparticles, Oncol. Lett. 15 (2018) 6611–6621.
- [103] Z. Yu, F. Chen, X. Qi, Y. Dong, Y. Zhang, Z. Ge, G. Cai, X. Zhang, Epidermal growth factor receptor aptamer-conjugated polymer-lipid hybrid nanoparticles enhance salinomycin delivery to osteosarcoma and cancer stem cells, Exp. Ther. Med. 15 (2018) 1247-1256.
- [104] Y. Zhang, Q. Zhang, J. Sun, H. Liu, Q. Li, The combination therapy of salinomycin and gefitinib using poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid)-poly(ethylene glycol) nanoparticles for targeting both lung cancer stem cells and cancer cells, OncoTargets Ther. 10 (2017) 5653-5666.
- [105] E. Muntimadugu, R. Kumar, S. Saladi, T.A. Rafeeqi, W. Khan, CD44 targeted chemotherapy for co-eradication of breast cancer stem cells and cancer cells using polymeric nanoparticles of salinomycin and paclitaxel, Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 143 (2016) 532-546.
- [106] R.S. Tığlı Aydın, G. Kaynak, M. Gümüşderelioğlu, Salinomycin encapsulated nanoparticles as a targeting vehicle for glioblastoma cells, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 104 (2016) 455-464.
- [107] J. Jiang, H. Chen, C. Yu, Y. Zhang, M. Chen, S. Tian, C. Sun, The promotion of salinomycin delivery to hepatocellular carcinoma cells through EGFR and CD133 aptamers conjugation by PLGA nanoparticles, Nanomedicine (Lond.) 10 (2015) 1863-1879.
- [108] M.Z. Ni, M. Xiong, X.C. Zhang, G.P. Cai, H.W. Chen, Q.M. Zeng, Z.C. Yu, Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles conjugated with CD133 aptamers for targeted salinomycin delivery to CD133+ osteosarcoma cancer stem cells, Int. J. Nanomed. 10 (2015) 2537-2554.
- [109] Q. Wang, P. Wu, W. Ren, K. Xin, Y. Yang, C. Xie, C. Yang, Q. Liu, L. Yu, X. Jiang, B. Liu, R. Li, L. Wang, Comparative studies of salinomycin-loaded nanoparticles prepared by nanoprecipitation and single emulsion method, Nanoscale Res. Lett. 9 (2014) 351.
- [110] R.S. Aydın, Herceptin-decorated salinomycin-loaded nanoparticles for breast tumor targeting, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. 101 (2013) 1405-1415.
- [111] O.S. Vaze, Pharmaceutical nanocarriers (liposomes and micelles) in cancer therapy, J. Nanomed. Nanotechnol. 7 (2016) e138.
- [112] Y. Zhang, H. Zhang, X. Wang, J. Wang, X. Zhang, Q. Zhang, The eradication of breast cancer and cancer stem cells using octreotide modified paclitaxel active targeting micelles and salinomycin passive targeting micelles, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 679-691.
- [113] F. Xie, S. Zhang, J. Liu, Z. Gong, K. Yang, H. Zhang, Y. Lu, H. Zou, Y. Yu, Y. Chen, Z. Sun, X. Wang, H. Zhang, G. Zhang, W. Li, B. Li, J. Gao, Y. Zhong, Codelivery of salinomycin and chloroquine by liposomes enables synergistic antitumor activity in vitro, Nanomedicine (Lond.) 11 (2016) 1831-1846.
- [114] M. Norouzi, Z. Abdali, S. Liu, D.W. Miller, Salinomycin-loaded nanofibers for glioblastoma therapy, Sci. Rep. 8 (2018) 9377.

- [115] M. Wang, F. Xie, X. Wen, H. Chen, H. Zhang, J. Liu, H. Zhang, H. Zou, Y. Yu, Y. Chen, Z. Sun, X. Wang, G. Zhang, C. Yin, D. Sun, J. Gao, B. Jiang, Y. Zhong, Y. Lu, Therapeutic PEG-ceramide nanomicelles synergize with salinomycin to target both liver cancer cells and cancer stem cells, Nanomedicine (Lond.) 12 (2017) 1025–1042.
- [116] W.Q. Geng, Y. Lu, J. Gao, Y. Yu, Y.Q. Zhong, Chin. J. New Drugs 25 (2016) 447–452.
- [117] Z. Gong, D. Chen, F. Xie, J. Liu, H. Zhang, H. Zou, Y. Yu, Y. Chen, Z. Sun, X. Wang, H. Zhang, G. Zhang, C. Yin, J. Gao, Y. Zhong, Y. Lu, Codelivery of salinomycin and doxorubicin using nanoliposomes for targeting both liver cancer cells and cancer stem cells, Nanomedicine (Lond.) 11 (2016) 2565–2579.
- [118] X. Mao, J. Liu, Z. Gong, H. Zhang, Y. Lu, H. Zou, Y. Yu, Y. Chen, Z. Sun, W. Li, B. Li, J. Gao, Y. Zhong, IRGD-conjugated DSPE-PEG2000 nanomicelles for targeted delivery of salinomycin for treatment of both liver cancer cells and cancer stem cells, Nanomedicine (Lond.) 10 (2015) 2677–2695.
- [119] Z. Daman, H. Montazeri, M. Azizi, F. Rezaie, S.N. Ostad, M. Amini, K. Gilani, Polymeric micelles of PEG-PLA copolymer as a carrier for salinomycin against gemcitabine-resistant pancreatic cancer, Pharm. Res. 32 (2015) 3756–3767.
- [120] Y. Zhang, W.B. Dai, J.C. Wang, Q. Zhang, Preparation of salinomycin-loaded micelles and the effects on cancer stem cells in vitro, Chin. Pharm. J. 49 (2014) 384–391.
- [121] M. Antoszczak, J. Janczak, J. Rutkowski, B. Brzezinski, A. Huczyński, Spectroscopic and structural studies of a new para-iodo-N-benzyl amide of salinomycin, J. Mol. Struct. 1147 (2017) 197–205.
- [122] J. Stefańska, M. Antoszczak, K. Stępień, M. Bartoszcze, T. Mirski, A. Huczyński, Tertiary amides of salinomycin: a new group of antibacterial agents against Bacillus anthracis and methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus epidermidis, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 25 (2015) 2082–2088.
- [123] M. Antoszczak, E. Maj, A. Napiórkowska, J. Stefańska, E. Augustynowicz-Kopeć, J. Wietrzyk, J. Janczak, B. Brzezinski, A. Huczyński, Synthesis, anticancer and antibacterial activity of salinomycin N-benzyl amides, Molecules 19 (2014) 19435–19459.
- [124] M. Antoszczak, K. Popiel, J. Stefańska, J. Wietrzyk, E. Maj, J. Janczak, G. Michalska, B. Brzezinski, A. Huczyński, Synthesis, cytotoxicity and antibacterial activity of new esters of polyether antibiotic – salinomycin, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 76 (2014) 435–444.
- [125] M. Antoszczak, E. Maj, J. Stefańska, J. Wietrzyk, J. Janczak, B. Brzezinski, A. Huczyński, Synthesis, antiproliferative and antibacterial activity of new amides of salinomycin, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 24 (2014) 1724–1729.
- [126] A. Huczyński, J. Janczak, M. Antoszczak, J. Wietrzyk, E. Maj, B. Brzezinski, Antiproliferative activity of salinomycin and its derivatives, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 22 (2012) 7146–7150.
- [127] A. Huczyński, J. Janczak, J. Stefańska, M. Antoszczak, B. Brzezinski, Synthesis and antimicrobial activity of amide derivatives of polyether antibiotic – salinomycin, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 22 (2012) 4697–4702.
- [128] A. Huczyński, J. Janczak, M. Antoszczak, J. Stefańska, B. Brzezinski, X-ray, FT-IR, NMR and PM5 structural studies and antibacterial activity of unexpectedly stable salinomycin-benzotriazole intermediate ester, J. Mol. Struct. 1022 (2012) 197–203.
- [129] A. Urbaniak, M. Delgado, M. Antoszczak, A. Huczyński, T.C. Chambers, Salinomycin derivatives exhibit activity against primary acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) cells in vitro, Biomed. Pharmacother. 99 (2018) 384–390.
- [130] M. Antoszczak, E. Maj, N. Kleczewska, J. Wietrzyk, L. Celewicz, A. Huczyński, Differences in antiproliferative activity between salinomycin-AZT conjugates obtained via 'click' and esterification reactions, Med. Chem. 13 (2017) 127–136.
- [131] I. Skiera, M. Antoszczak, J. Trynda, J. Wietrzyk, P. Boratyński, K. Kacprzak, A. Huczyński, Antiproliferative activity of polyether antibiotic-Cinchona alkaloid conjugates obtained via click chemistry, Chem. Biol. Drug Des. 86 (2015) 911–917.
- [132] A. Huczyński, M. Antoszczak, N. Kleczewska, M. Lewandowska, E. Maj, J. Stefańska, J. Wietrzyk, J. Janczak, L. Celewicz, Synthesis and biological

activity of salinomycin conjugates with floxuridine, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 93 (2015) 33-41.

- [133] M. Antoszczak, G. Klejborowska, M. Kruszyk, E. Maj, J. Wietrzyk, A. Huczyński, Synthesis and antiproliferative activity of silybin conjugates with salinomycin and monensin, Chem. Biol. Drug Des. 86 (2015) 1378–1386.
- [134] M. Antoszczak, M. Sobusiak, E. Maj, J. Wietrzyk, A. Huczyński, Synthesis and antiproliferative activity of new bioconjugates of salinomycin with amino acid esters, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 25 (2015) 3511–3514.
- [135] B. Li, J. Wu, W. Zhang, Z. Li, G. Chen, Q. Zhou, S. Wu, Synthesis and biological activity of salinomycin-hydroxamic acid conjugates, Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett 27 (2017) 1624–1626.
- [136] B. Borgström, X. Huang, E. Chygorin, S. Oredsson, D. Strand, Salinomycin hydroxamic acids: synthesis, structure, and biological activity of polyether ionophore hybrids, ACS Med. Chem. Lett. 7 (2016) 635–640.
- [137] B. Borgström, X. Huang, M. Pošta, C. Hegardt, S. Oredsson, D. Strand, Synthetic modification of salinomycin: selective O-acylation and biological evaluation, Chem. Commun. 49 (2013) 9944–9946.
- [138] X. Huang, B. Borgström, S. Kempengren, L. Persson, C. Hegardt, D. Strand, S. Oredsson, Breast cancer stem cell selectivity of synthetic nanomolar-active salinomycin analogs, BMC Canc. 16 (2016) 145.
- [139] J. Klose, S. Kattner, B. Borgström, C. Volz, T. Schmidt, M. Schneider, S. Oredsson, D. Strand, A. Ulrich, Semi-synthetic salinomycin analogs exert cytotoxic activity against human colorectal cancer stem cells, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 495 (2018) 53–59.
- [140] W. Zhang, J. Wu, B. Li, J. Xia, H. Wu, L. Wang, J. Hao, Q. Zhou, S. Wu, Synthesis and biological activity evaluation of 20-epi-salinomycin and its 20-O-acyl derivatives, RSC Adv. 6 (2016) 41885–41890.
- [141] Q. Shi, Y. Li, S. Bo, X. Li, P. Zhao, Q. Liu, Z. Yang, H. Cong, H. Deng, M. Chen, S. Chen, X. Zhou, H. Ding, Z.X. Jiang, Discovery of a 19F MRI sensitive salinomycin derivative with high cytotoxicity towards cancer cells, Chem. Commun. 52 (2016) 5136–5139.
- [142] Y. Li, Q. Shi, J. Shao, Y. Yuan, Z. Yang, S. Chen, X. Zhou, S. Wen, Z.X. Jiang, Synthesis and biological evaluation of 20-epi-amino-20-deoxysalinomycin derivatives, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 148 (2018) 279–290.
- [143] B. Borgström, X. Huang, C. Hegardt, S. Oredsson, D. Strand, Structure–activity relationships in salinomycin: cytotoxicity and phenotype selectivity of semisynthetic derivatives, Chem. Eur J. 23 (2017) 2232.
- [144] T.T. Mai, A. Hamaï, A. Hienzsch, T. Cañeque, S. Müller, J. Wicinski, O. Cabaud, C. Leroy, A. David, V. Acevedo, A. Ryo, C. Ginestier, D. Birnbaum, E. Charafe-Jauffret, P. Codogno, M. Mehrpour, R. Rodriguez, Salinomycin kills cancer stem cells by sequestering iron in lysosomes, Nat. Chem. 9 (2017) 1025–1033.
- [145] W. Zhang, J. Wu, B. Li, X. Lian, J. Xia, Q. Zhou, S. Wu, Design and synthesis of conformationally constrained salinomycin derivatives, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 138 (2017) 353–356.
- [146] X. Huang, B. Borgström, L. Mansson, L. Persson, S. Oredsson, C. Hegardt, D. Strand, Semisynthesis of SY-1 for investigation of breast cancer stem cell selectivity of C-ring-modified salinomycin analogues, ACS Chem. Biol. 9 (2014) 1587–1594.
- [147] W. Zhang, J. Wu, B. Li, H. Wu, L. Wang, J. Hao, S. Wu, Q. Zhou, Structure-activity & structure-toxicity relationship study of salinomycin diastereoisomers and their benzoylated derivatives, Org. Biomol. Chem. 14 (2016) 2840–2845.
- [148] M. Huang, Z. Deng, J. Tian, T. Liu, Synthesis and biological evaluation of salinomycin triazole analogues as anticancer agents, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 127 (2017) 900–908.
- [149] M. Antoszczak, E. Maj, B. Borgström, S. Oredsson, A. Huczyński, D. Strand, Bivalent polyether ionophores: synthesis and biological evaluation of C2symmetric salinomycin dimers, Tetrahedron Lett. 58 (2017) 2396–2399.
- [150] M. Antoszczak, A. Urbaniak, M. Delgado, E. Maj, B. Borgström, J. Wietrzyk, A. Huczyński, Y. Yuan, T.C. Chambers, D. Strand, Biological activity of doubly modified salinomycin analogs – evaluation in vitro and ex vivo, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 156 (2018) 510–523.